

MESTRADO INTEGRADO EM MEDICINA - TRABALHO FINAL

ANA LUÍSA FERREIRA DE JESUS SILVA

Morphological and functional evaluation of Intermediate Agerelated Macular Degeneration in the scope of the Epidemiological Coimbra Eye Study

ARTIGO CIENTÍFICO ORIGINAL

ÁREA CIENTÍFICA DE OFTALMOLOGIA

Trabalho realizado sob a orientação de: DRA. CLÁUDIA VIRGÍNIA LOURO FARINHA PROFESSOR DOUTOR RUFINO SILVA

MAIO/2020

AGRADECIMENTOS

Em primeiro lugar, gostaria de agradecer à minha orientadora, Dr.ª Cláudia Farinha, por todo o trabalho, apoio, disponibilidade e paciência que teve comigo ao longo da realização deste trabalho. Permitiu-me crescer não só enquanto futura médica, mas, mais importante, enquanto pessoa.

Agradeço igualmente ao Professor Dr. Rufino Silva, meu co-orientador, por todo o suporte e orientação que forneceu neste percurso.

Deixo o meu especial agradecimento à Dr.ª Rita Coimbra, pelo excelente trabalho realizado a nível estatístico, por toda a disponibilidade, simpatia e paciência sempre demonstradas.

Deixo um grande agradecimento aos meus Pais e ao meu Avô pelo apoio incondicional ao longo deste meu percurso académico e por todos os sacrifícios que fizeram para que pudesse chegar aqui, bem como por toda a paciência e reforço positivo que sempre demonstraram.

Agradeço a todos os meus amigos, em especial a vocês, Beatriz e Inês, por todo o apoio, companheirismo, incentivo e amizade com que me premiaram.

Um agradecimento muito especial ao meu namorado, Diogo, pelo incansável apoio que me proporcionou ao longo deste trajeto, por ter estado sempre disponível e me ter ajudado a lidar com os momentos de ansiedade extrema. Foste uma alavanca essencial para conseguir chegar ao fim desta etapa da minha vida.

A todos, um Muito Obrigado!

MORPHOLOGICAL AND FUNCTIONAL EVALUATION OF INTERMEDIATE AGE-RELATED MACULAR DEGENERATION IN THE SCOPE OF THE EPIDEMIOLOGICAL COIMBRA EYE STUDY

Ana Luísa Ferreira de Jesus Silva¹, Rita Coimbra², Rufino Silva²⁻⁶, Cláudia Virgínia Louro Farinha^{1,2,6}

¹Faculty of Medicine, University of Coimbra (FMUC)

²Association of Innovation and Biomedical Research in Light and Image (AIBILI), Coimbra, Portugal ³University of Coimbra, Coimbra Institute for Clinical and Biomedical Research (iCBR), Faculty of Medicine. Coimbra. Portugal

⁴University of Coimbra, Center for Innovative Biomedicine and Biotechnology (CIBB). Coimbra. Portugal ⁵Clinical Academic Center of Coimbra (CACC). Coimbra. Portugal

⁶Ophthalmology Department. Centro Hospitalar e Universitário de Coimbra (CHUC). Coimbra. Portugal

Corresponding author:

Cláudia Farinha Ophthalmology Department, Centro Hospitalar e Universitário de Coimbra (CHUC) Praceta Mota Pinto, 3000 Coimbra, Portugal 10114@chuc.min-saude.pt

CONTENTS

LIST OF ACRONYMS	5
RESUMO	6
ABSTRACT	8
BACKGROUND	10
SUBJECTS AND METHODS	12
Study design and selection of participants	12
Data collection and AMD staging	12
SD-OCT segmentation and quantitative assessment	12
SD-OCT qualitative assessment of retinal features	15
Statistical Analyses	15
RESULTS	17
Study population	17
Clinical and Demographic characterization	17
AMD Staging	
Retinal Layers and Choroidal Thicknesses and Volumes	19
Differences between stages for each retinal layer	20
Association between retinal layers and RPE/BrM layer	21
Qualitative SD-OCT analysis and relation to retinal layer and choroidal thickness	23
Association with Best-Corrected Visual Acuity	23
DISCUSSION	25
CONCLUSION	29
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	30
REFERENCES	31
ANNEX I	
ANNEX II.	35
ANNEX III.	
ANNEX IV	
ANNEX V	
ANNEX VI	39
ANNEX VII	40
ANNEX VIII	41
ANNEX IX	42

LIST OF ACRONYMS

- **AMD –** Age-related macular degeneration
- BCVA Best-corrected visual acuity
- BrM Bruch's membrane
- CES Coimbra Eye Study
- CFP Color fundus photographs
- ELM External limiting membrane
- ERM Epiretinal membrane
- ETDRS Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study
- FAF Fundus autofluorescence
- GCL Ganglion cell layer
- **HF** Hyperreflective foci
- ILM Inner limiting membrane
- **INL –** Inner nuclear layer
- IPL Inner plexiform layer
- IR Infra-red
- IRL Inner retinal layer
- **ONL –** Outer nuclear layer
- **OPL –** Outer plexiform layer
- **ORL –** Outer retinal layer
- PED Pigment epithelial detachment
- PRL Photoreceptor layer
- RNFL Retinal nerve fiber layer
- RPD Reticular pseudodrusen
- **RPE –** Retinal pigment epithelium
- SDD Subretinal drusenoid deposits
- SD-OCT Spectral-domain optical coherence tomography
- VMA Vitreomacular adhesion

RESUMO

Introdução: A degenerescência macular relacionada com a idade (DMI), uma das principais causas de perda irreversível da visão em adultos mais velhos, é atualmente considerada uma doença neurodegenerativa da retina. Através de análise histopatológica e de tomografia de coerência ótica de domínio espectral (SD-OCT), alguns estudos demonstraram que, para além das alterações existentes no complexo RPE/coriocapilar, também é possível identificar degenerescência ao nível da retina interna em estádios iniciais da doença. Desta forma, o objetivo do nosso trabalho é realizar uma avaliação morfológica quantitativa detalhada de todas as camadas da retina e coróide em olhos com estádios iniciais de DMI, bem como correlacioná-la com dados clínicos e microestruturais, numa coorte de participantes retirada do estudo de base populacional de Coimbra relativo à DMI (*Coimbra Eye Study-CES*).

Métodos: Estudo transversal de base populacional. Todos os doentes incluídos no estudo de Incidência da DMI do *CES* (NCT02748824) com DMI precoce (estádios 2a, 2b e 3 da classificação de Roterdão) foram elegíveis para a presente análise. Todos foram submetidos a avaliação por SD-OCT com *Spectralis HRA+OCT* (*Heidelberg Engineering, Germany*) e os exames foram enviados para um centro de leitura para classificação. Neste estudo, a segmentação automática de oito camadas da retina foi aplicada à imagem completa do volume macular recorrendo ao programa *Heidelberg Eye Explorer*. Todas as camadas segmentadas foram revistas e corrigidas manualmente quando necessário. A espessura média dos círculos maculares central, interno e externo da grelha *ETDRS*, bem como o volume macular, foram extraídos para cada camada retiniana. A espessura subfoveal da coróide foi medida manualmente no mesmo programa. Recorrendo a modelos mistos lineares, foram procuradas diferenças para cada camada retiniana ao longo dos estádios de DMI precoce. Adicionalmente, foram avaliadas possíveis associações entre a espessura das camadas retinianas e a camada RPE/Bruch, a melhor acuidade visual corrigida (MAVC) e alterações qualitativas da retina no SD-OCT, com recurso a análises de regressão linear multivariada corrigidas para a idade, género, estado refrativo e estádio de DMI.

Resultados: Uma coorte de 347 olhos obtida de 234 doentes foi elegível para análise. A idade média dos doentes foi de 74.5 \pm 7.0 anos e 63.7% (149) eram do sexo feminino. Para avaliar as diferenças na espessura das camadas retinianas nos estádios de DMI precoce todos os olhos foram incluídos: 286 (82.4%) no estádio 2a, 20 (5.8%) no 2b e 41 (11.8%) no estádio 3. Através de modelos mistos lineares e depois de testar para diferenças aos pares entre os diferentes estádios de DMI separadamente por círculo macular, encontrámos uma tendência global para a diminuição da espessura das camadas internas da retina com o aumento do estádio, especialmente quando comparado o estádio 3 com o 2a: GCL (círculo interno; p=0.003), IPL (círculo interno; p=0.002) and ONL (círculo central; p=0.002). Por outro lado, a espessura da camada RPE/Bruch foi superior no círculo central no estádio 3, comparando com os estádios 2a e 2b (p=0.0001, p=0.002). Foram encontradas associações entre as espessuras das camadas da neuroretina com a RPE/Bruch, depois de selecionado o pior olho por doente (234 eves: GCL(β =0.299,p<0.001), IPL(β =0.387,p=0.044),

OPL(círculo central: β =-0.182,p=0.04; círculo interno: β =0.200,p=0.012), ONL(β =0.218,p<0.001) and PRL(β =1.098,p<0.001)). Os pseudodrusen foram associados a uma diminuição da espessura da camada RPE/Bruch e da coróide (p<0.05), enquanto que os focos hiperrefletivos se associaram a um aumento da espessura das camadas INL e RPE/Bruch (p<0.05). Um valor inferior de MAVC foi relacionado com uma menor espessura das camadas ONL e IPL, mas com uma maior espessura das camadas PRL e INL no círculo macular central (p<0.05).

Discussão/Conclusão: Demonstrámos, numa grande coorte de doentes, que as alterações na retina interna são observadas precocemente na DMI, para além das alterações expectáveis na retina externa. Foi detetada uma diminuição da espessura de diversas camadas da neuroretina nos estádios precoces, nomeadamente com a progressão do estádio, sugerindo que a avaliação quantitativa da retina interna pode constituir um biomarcador de progressão da doença. Estes achados sustentam a existência de neurodegenerescência já em estádios iniciais de DMI. As associações encontradas entre a espessura/volume de algumas camadas neuroretinianas com a camada RPE/Bruch, sugerem que estas se relacionam proporcionalmente. Confirmámos, ainda, que os pseudodrusen constituem biomarcadores de um fenótipo específico de DMI relacionado com coróides mais finas, enquanto que os focos hiperrefletivos estão associados a um aumento da espessura da camada RPE/Bruch. As repercussões funcionais estão presentes já em estádios iniciais de DMI.

Palavras-chave: Degenerescência macular relacionada com a idade; Análise microestrutural com tomografia de coerência ótica de domínio espectral; Espessura das camadas retinianas; Pseudodrusen; Coróide.

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Age-related macular degeneration (AMD), a leading cause of irreversible vision loss in older adults, is today regarded as a neurodegenerative disease of the retina. Studies using histopathological and SD-OCT analysis have shown that there is progressive degeneration of the inner retina in the early stages of the disease, along with the changes in the RPE-choriocapillaris complex. The purpose of our study is to accomplish a detailed quantitative morphological evaluation of all retinal layers and choroid in early AMD-staged eyes and to correlate with clinical and microstructural data, in a cohort of participants from the AMD Coimbra Eye Study.

Methods: Population-based, cross-sectional study. All patients included in the Incidence AMD Coimbra Eye Study (NCT02748824) and with early AMD (Rotterdam system stages 2a, 2b, and 3) were eligible for the present analysis. All were submitted to SD-OCT examination with Spectralis HRA+OCT (Heidelberg Engineering, Germany) and the exams sent to a centralized reading center for classification. In the present study, automatic segmentation of eight retinal layers was applied to the complete macular volume scan of the included eyes using the Heidelberg Eye Explorer software. All segmented layers were reviewed, and manual correction was performed whenever necessary. The mean retinal thicknesses from the central field, from the inner and outer circles of the ETDRS grid, as well as the macular volume, were obtained for each retinal layer. Subfoveal choroidal thickness was measured manually in the same software. Using linear mixed models, we tested for differences in each retinal layer thickness across early AMD stages. Additionally, associations between the thickness of retinal layers and the RPE/Bruch layer, best-corrected visual acuity (BCVA), and qualitative SD-OCT features, were assessed by stepwise multivariate linear regression analysis, while adjusting for age, gender, refractive status, and AMD stage.

Results: A cohort of 347 eyes from 234 patients was eligible for analysis. The mean age was 74.5 \pm 7.0 years, and 63.7% (149) were female. To assess for differences in retinal layers thickness across early AMD stages all eyes were included: 286 eyes (82.4%) in stage 2a, 20 (5.8%) in 2b, and 41 (11.8%) in stage 3. With linear mixed models and after testing for pairwise differences between AMD stages separately for each macular circle, we found a global tendency for lower thickness of inner layers with higher stage, especially when comparing stage 3 to stage 2a: GCL (inner circle; p=0.003), IPL (inner circle; p=0.002) and ONL (central circle; p=0.002). In contrast, the RPE/Bruch layer was thicker in the central circle in stage 3, compared to 2a and 2b (p<0.001, p=0.002). Associations between neuroretinal layers and RPE/Bruch layer thicknesses were found, after selecting the worst eye per subject (234 eyes: GCL(β =0.299,p<0.001), IPL(β =0.387,p=0.044), OPL(central circle; β =-0.182,p=0.04; inner circle; β =0.200,p=0.012), ONL(β =0.218,p<0.001) and PRL(β =1.098,p<0.001)). Pseudodrusen were associated with thinner RPE/Bruch layer and choroid (p<0.05). Hyperreflective foci were associated with thicker INL and RPE/Bruch layer and choroid (p<0.05). Hyperreflective foci were and IPL and with thicker PRL and INL in the central circle (p<0.05).

Discussion/Conclusion: We demonstrated in a large cohort of patients that changes in the inner retina are observed early in AMD, in addition to the expected changes in the outer retina. Thinning

of several neuroretinal layers were detected in the early stages, and further decreased in thickness by stage severity, suggesting that quantitative analyzes of the inner layers may serve as biomarkers of disease progression. These findings support the existence of neurodegeneration in the early AMD stages. The associations found between thickness/volume of some neuroretinal layers and the RPE/Bruch layer suggest that they are proportionally related. Pseudodrusen were confirmed as biomarkers of an AMD specific phenotype related to thinner choroids, but also to thinner RPE/Bruch layer, and hyperreflective foci were associated with a thicker RPE/Bruch layer. Functional repercussions were also present in early AMD stages.

Keywords: Early age-related macular degeneration; Microstructural spectral-domain optical coherence tomography analysis; Retinal layers thickness; Pseudodrusen; Choroid.

BACKGROUND

Age-related macular degeneration (AMD), a leading cause of irreversible vision loss and blindness in older adults, is a neurodegenerative disease of the retina associated with aging.(1-6) The global prevalence of AMD is estimated to be 8.7% in people aged between 45 and 85 years, and the burden is expected to increase with estimates of 288 million affected individuals by 2040.(7-9)

AMD is characterized by the progressive degeneration of the photoreceptors, retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) and choriocapillaris complex in the macular region of the retina.(1, 2, 6, 10) In asymptomatic early stages, the main identified clinical lesions are drusen - extracellular yellow deposits located between the RPE and Bruch's membrane (BrM) - and pigmentary changes.(1, 3, 5, 6, 10) More recently, reticular pseudodrusen (RPD) were described, and they correspond to deposits located above the RPE, hence, also being called subretinal drusenoid deposits (SDD). RPD are more commonly seen in older patients and in eyes with thin choroid.(3, 11-13)

With progression of disease, development of areas of geographic atrophy or choroidal neovascularization in the macula might arise, both corresponding to late AMD. At this stage, there is impairment of central vision, perceived by the patient as a decrease in vision and/or distortion of images (*i.e.* metamorphopsia). Areas of low or absent retinal sensitivity (*scotomata*), may develop in the central visual field, making face recognition or tasks such as reading or driving a car extremely difficult.(14) Symptoms may be apparent only when both eyes are affected, but usually the progression to late stage is asymmetric. According to Joachim *et al.*, on average, 20–25% of unilateral any AMD cases, and up to 50% of unilateral late AMD cases, progress to bilateral involvement within 5 years.(15) Therefore, timely diagnosis and patient awareness are of extreme importance for early recognition of fellow eye involvement.(14)

The understanding of the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying AMD represents a challenge by its multifactorial nature, with multiple genetic and environmental risk factors already identified or in study. Smoking is the main modifiable risk factor,(15) and age and family history are the main non-modifiable risks.(5) Gender, nutrition, cardiovascular diseases, and hypertension are also thought to play a role in the development of the disease, but with conflicting reports.(16)

Several staging systems of AMD severity have been developed, however, none has been accepted as universal and no global consensus still exists.(17) The Rotterdam staging system is one of the most used in major epidemiologic studies, being also applied in the Coimbra Eye Study (CES), the only study regarding AMD prevalence and incidence in a Portuguese cohort.(5, 16, 18)

The diagnosis of AMD was conventionally based on clinical examination and assessment of color fundus photographs (CFP), which is to date the basis of staging systems in AMD. However, the introduction of spectral-domain optical coherence tomography (SD-OCT) and fundus autofluorescence (FAF) imaging in AMD management provided improved ability to detect lesions in earlier stages, even when not clinically observed by ophthalmoscopy.(14, 19) The SD-OCT, a non-invasive approach, has become the standard imaging modality to diagnose and guide treatment for AMD, as it allows *in vivo* guantitative and gualitative analyses of the macula and its layers individually.(4, 6) Automatic

segmentation of different retinal layers by OCT is now possible and has been applied in some studies, however, semi-automatic segmentation is a more adequate term, as corrections are often needed.(6)

Traditionally, AMD is regarded as a disease that predominantly affects the outer retina.(2) More recently some studies using histopathological analyses or SD-OCT analysis have demonstrated that there are progressive degenerative changes in the inner retina as well, and that this happens in the early/intermediate stages of disease.(2, 4, 6, 10)

The purpose of this study is to accomplish a detailed quantitative morphological evaluation of all retinal layers and choroid in early AMD-staged eyes and to correlate with clinical and microstructural data, in a cohort of participants from the AMD *Coimbra Eye Study.*

SUBJECTS AND METHODS

Study design and selection of participants

Information on the identification and description of the study population has appeared in previous reports.(5, 16, 18, 19) Briefly, the CES is a single-center population-based study whose cohort included two geographically distinct populations aged ≥55 years for the estimation of AMD prevalence: one from a coastal town (Mira), and the second from an inland town (Lousã). The subsequent AMD Incidence Study(NCT01298674) conducted 6.5 years later, only included the subjects recruited from the primary health care unit in Mira.(18, 19) This latter population was extensively characterized from a clinical, demographic, and imagiological perspective. For inclusion in the present analysis, patients staged with early AMD by multimodal imaging (stages 2a, 2b, and 3 of Rotterdam classification) in the AMD Incidence study were identified.

Signed informed consent was obtained for all participants in the scope of the AMD incidence study. The study adhered to the tenets of the Declaration of Helsinki (2008) and was approved by the Association for Innovation and Biomedical Research on Light and Image (AIBILI) Ethics Committee.

Data collection and AMD staging

All CES participants underwent a detailed questionnaire-based interview on demographic, clinical and lifestyle related information, as well as complete bilateral ophthalmological examination including BCVA, tested with Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study (ETDRS) charts.(5, 16, 18)

After an initial generic analysis of all imaging exams collected, patients with AMD diagnosis were selected for grading, and AMD staging was performed using the Rotterdam staging system (Table 1). Early AMD was defined as stages 2a, 2b and 3, and Late AMD as stage 4. In brief, and as reported elsewhere, staging was established using a multimodal approach including CFP, OCT, FAF, and infrared (IR) imaging.(18, 19) CFP image grading was supported by *RetmarkerAMD Research* software (Retmarker SA, Coimbra, Portugal), that assists manual grading of lesions according to the International Age-Related Macular Epidemiological Study Group Classification.(17) This was performed while analysing the correspondent SD-OCT, IR, and FAF exams using the Heidelberg Eye Explorer software (version 1.10.4.0). All imaging data were collected in the context of the AMD Incidence Study.(18, 19) This assessment was performed at a centralized reading center (Coimbra Ophthalmology Reading Center, AIBILI), by 4 senior medical retina specialist graders trained according to study protocol.

SD-OCT segmentation and quantitative assessment

SD-OCT of both eyes was acquired with *Spectralis* HRA+OCT (Heidelberg Engineering, Heidelberg, Germany) according to the methodology previously described.(18, 19) All OCT exams were sent to the centralized reading center, and imported into the Heidelberg Eye Explorer software for

grading. The EDI Macular Volume Scan was selected for analysis (20°x20°, 49 or 97 B-scans, 16 frames per scan), and segmentation of all retinal layers was performed.

STA	GES	DEFINITION
0	а	No signs of AMD at all
	b	Hard drusen (<63 μm) only
1	а	Soft distinct drusen (≥63 μm) only
	b	Pigmentary abnormalities only, without soft drusen (≥63 µm)
2	а	Soft indistinct drusen (≥125 µm) or reticular drusen only
	b	Soft distinct drusen (≥63 μ m) with pigmentary abnormalities
3		Soft indistinct drusen (≥125 µm) or reticular drusen with pigmentary
		abnormalities
4		Atrophic or neovascular AMD

First, automatic segmentation of each retinal layer was applied to the complete volume scan. This was performed using the in-built *Spectralis* mapping software Heidelberg Eye Explorer (version 1.10.4.0). Then, all layers were reviewed for segmentation and manual correction was performed whenever necessary, using appropriate tools of the software. When, after maximum effort, a scan had poor quality and a layer could not be segmented, it was automatically subtracted from the map. Decentration of the macular volume was also manually rectified if necessary. Scans where the foveal region was not captured by the macular cube were excluded. Eyes with concomitant retinal disease distorting the macular layers or compromising accurate thickness assessment were also excluded (e.g. significant epiretinal macular membrane). Automatic segmentation and the necessary manual corrections were conducted by a trained grader (ALS), certified by the reading center according to the specific study protocol developed for this analysis, and supervised by a Senior Grader (medical retina specialist, CF). Doubtful or difficult cases in the opinion of the grader were discussed and revised by the supervisor.

The *Spectralis* segmentation software nomenclature includes seven distinct layers: retinal nerve fiber layer (RNFL), ganglion cell layer (GCL), inner plexiform layer (IPL), inner nuclear layer (INL), outer plexiform layer (OPL), outer nuclear layer (ONL) and RPE/Bruch layer (RPE/BrM) (Figure 1A). Besides the thickness of the previous layers, the software also provides information on three additional composite layers: (1)the combined inner retinal layer (IRL), which extends from the inner limiting membrane (ILM) to the external limiting membrane (ELM), (2)the outer retinal layer (ORL), extending from ELM to Bruch's membrane (BrM), and (3)the total retinal thickness, ranging from ILM to BrM (Figure 1B). Since the software does not provide the retinal thickness of inner and outer segments of the photoreceptors, and as these are of paramount interest in AMD pathophysiology, we have calculated the thickness and volume values for an additional layer, the "photoreceptor" layer (PRL), subtracting the RPE/BrM layer from the ORL, as described by Brandl *et al.*(6)

After verification of each individual B-scan and correction of the segmentation errors, the thickness from the nine macular fields, as determined by the ETDRS grid available in the software, and the volume for each of the segmented retinal layers were registered (Figure 1B). The mean retinal thicknesses in inner and outer circles (3 and 6 mm diameter, respectively) were calculated by averaging the thickness measurements of the inner and outer superior, inferior, nasal and temporal fields of the grid.(6, 20, 21)

Besides the retinal thickness, central choroidal thickness beneath the fovea was manually measured using the caliper tool available in the *Spectralis* software, using the 1:1 µm viewing mode, in the horizontal scan passing through the center of the fovea. Choroidal thickness was defined as the vertical distance from the hyperreflective line of the BrM to the innermost hyperreflective line of the



Figure 1. (A) Representation of semi-automatic segmentation of retinal layers in a horizontal foveal SD-OCT B-scan, performed in the *Spectralis software*. (B) Depicted are the retinal layers available for segmentation, as well as the information of thickness (ETDRS grid) and volume provided.

chorioscleral interface. If the hyperreflective line of the BrM was not separated from the RPE, the choroid was measured from beneath the outermost hyperreflective line of RPE/BrM layer to the innermost hyperreflective line of the chorioscleral interface.

SD-OCT qualitative assessment of retinal features

An extensive qualitative analysis of the SD-OCT scans was performed in all AMD patients included in the AMD Incidence Study according to recently proposed "European Eye Epidemiology spectral-domain optical coherence tomography classification of macular diseases for epidemiological studies".(22)

Again, this assessment was performed by 4 trained senior medical retina specialist graders and several features were graded according to presence and location to the fovea:

- Assessment of the neuroretina and RPE/BrM layer: soft drusen, RPD, pigment epithelium detachment (including drusenoid PED), RPE atrophy, hyperreflective foci (HF), intraretinal cystoid edema, subretinal fluid, outer retinal tubulations, and subretinal hyperreflective material.
- Assessment of the vitreomacular interface: vitreomacular adhesion (VMA), vitreomacular traction and epiretinal membrane (ERM).

Statistical Analyses

Data were analysed using STATA software (StatCorp., College Station, Tex., USA), version 12.1 SE.

Demographic and clinical characteristics were summarized using descriptive methods. Normal distribution of data was assessed by Shapiro-Wilk test.

Two distinct statistical methodologies were performed in this study to properly analyze not only the differences between retinal layers by stage, but also the associations between them and to other functional and qualitative morphological features in the population.

To test for differences in retinal layer thickness within eyes with early AMD stages, we used a more complex approach that allowed the inclusion of all eyes in the analysis. Differences in retinal layer thickness were therefore assessed using a linear mixed model for each layer separately, this is, the eight distinct layers: RNFL, GCL, IPL, INL, OPL, ONL, PRL and RPE/BrM. For each layer, the dataset consists of multiple measurements per study participant, eyes, and macular circle. This correlation structure was taken into account by including a participant-specific random intercept and a nested random intercept for each eye per participant into each model. The dependent variable of each model was the natural logarithm of manually corrected retinal layer thickness by circle (central, inner, and outer) and by eyes. The independent variables were age (linear), gender, circle and AMD stage (2a, 2b, 3). Age and gender were integrated as potential cofounders, due to significant variation in thickness of retinal layers in normal eyes depending on these variables.(6, 20). An interaction effect of the AMD stage with macular circle was included to account for differing retinal layer thickness by circle and to

estimate potentially differing effects of the disease stages on retinal layer thickness in the different circles. To test for pairwise differences we used approximate F-tests based on the Kenward-Rogers approach. The p-values were adjusted by Bonferroni method for 3 tests. The significance level was set as 0.05/24=0.002 to consider the p-values adjustment for 24 = (3 macular fields x 8 distinct retinal layers) tests.

For the remaining statistical analysis, we included only the worst-AMD staged eye to not exclude more severe stages that were less represented in the total sample. The correlations between the different retinal layers and the RPE/BrM layer, regarding thickness and volume, were tested using Spearman correlation due to the non-normal distribution of the sample, followed by a stepwise backward multivariate regression analysis to adjust for possible confounders (age, gender, refractive status, and AMD stage). The same statistical methodology was applied to test the association between the BCVA and the retinal layers thicknesses in the central circle and to assess the relation between the SD-OCT qualitative retinal features more prevalent in this population and the retinal layers thicknesses across each macular circle.

RESULTS

Study population

Early AMD (stages 2a, 2b, and 3) was established in a multimodal manner including CFP, OCT, FAF, and IR imaging, as described above. From the original cohort of the AMD incidence study, early AMD was found in 360 eyes from 237 patients. From these, 347 eyes from 234 patients (96.39%) were eligible for segmentation analysis and included in the study (Figure 2). Study eyes with the following criteria were excluded(n=13): poor image quality for accurate segmentation, absence of SD-OCT scans in the macular volume, and concomitant retinal disease distorting the retinal layers preventing reliable manual segmentation correction.



Figure 2. Chart of the study eyes selected and included in the *Retinal Layer Thickness* (RLT) analysis.

Clinical and Demographic characterization

The demographic and clinical characteristics from included CES patients are presented in Table 2. The mean age was 74.5±7.0 years (range, 61-88 years) and 80.4% had between 65 and 84 years old. Most patients with early AMD were women (63.7%) and Caucasian (98.3%).

Regarding risk-factors, the majority were nonsmokers (86.2%, n=200) and had no family history of AMD (89.3%, n=209). As for comorbidities, 12.8%(n=30) had diabetes, 56.8%(n=133) had hypertension, and 50.0%(n=117) had hypercholesterolemia/hyperlipidemia.

Ophthalmologic examination revealed a mean BCVA of 76.2 ± 9.8 letters (range, 33-90), and a mean spherical equivalent of $+0.58\pm1.60$ diopters (range, -6.00 to +4.63) in this population.

Characteristics	N (%)
Gender	
Male, n (%)	85 (36.3)
Female, n (%)	149 (63.7)
Age	
55-64 years, n (%)	26 (11.1)
65-74 years, n (%)	94 (40.2)
75-84 years, n (%)	94 (40.2)
≥ 85 years, n (%)	20 (8.6)
Ethnicity	
Caucasian	230 (98.3)
African	4 (1.7)
Smoking	
Smoker	5 (2.2)
Ex-smoker	27 (11.6)
Nonsmoker	200 (86.2)
Familiar history of AMD	
Yes	2 (0.9)
No	209 (89.3)
Does not know	23 (9.8)
Diabetes	
Yes	30 (12.8)
No	200 (85.5)
Does not know	4 (1.7)
Hypertension	
Yes	133 (56.8)
No	95 (40.6)
Does not know	6 (2.6)
Hypercholesterolemia	
Yes	103 (44.0)
No	114 (48.7)
Does not know	17 (7.3)
Hyperlipidemia	
Yes	14 (6.0)
No	193 (82.5)
Does not know	27 (11.5)
BMI, mean ± SD (min-max)	27.9 ± 4.9 Kg/m ² (17.2 – 47.0)
BCVA, mean ± SD (min-max)	76.2 ± 9.8 letters (33 – 90)
Spherical equivalent,	+0.58 ± 1.60 diopters (-6.00 -
mean ± SD (min-max)	+4.63)

Table 2. Demographic and clinical characteristics of the study population.

BMI, body mass index; BCVA, best-corrected visual acuity; SD, standard deviation; min, minimum; max, maximum.

AMD Staging

Of the 347 eyes included, 82.42%(n=286) were in stage 2a, 5.76%(n=20) in stage 2b and 11.82%(n=41) in stage 3 (Table 3). The prevalence of different stages of early AMD was similar regarding the laterality (RE vs LE) (Table 3).

AMD STAGE	ALL EYES	OD	OS		
2a	82.42% (286)	48.60% (139)	51.40% (147)		
2b	5.76% (20)	45.00% (9)	55.00% (11)		
3	11.82% (41)	46.34% (19)	53.66% (22)		
All eyes	100% (347)	48.13% (167)	51.87% (180)		

Table 3. Prevalence of different stages of early AMD (stages 2a, 2b and 3), by eye.

Frequencies in parenthesis.

Retinal Layers and Choroidal Thicknesses and Volumes

Thickness values of eight distinct retinal layers and three additional combinations (inner, outer, and overall retinal layers), were obtained from all 347 analyzed eyes, for the central, inner, and outer circles. The macular volume of these layers was also acquired. The median thicknesses and volumes of each retinal layer are presented in Table 4.

Table 4. Retinal layers thickness and volume in a population aged 55+ with early AMD, in the central, inner and outer circles.

Retinal layers	Central circle	Inner circle	Outer circle	Volume
RNFL	12.00 (11.00–14.00)	20.50 (19.25–22.25)	34.50 (31.50–37.75)	0.87 (0.80–0.96)
GCL	14.00 (12.00–16.00)	48.00 (43.75–51.00)	33.00 (30.50–36.00)	1.02 (0.94–1.09)
IPL	20.00 (18.00–22.00)	40.0 (37.50–42.50)	28.50 (26.38–30.25)	0.87 (0.81–0.92)
INL	20.00 (17.00–24.00)	40.75 (38.75–43.50)	32.50 (31.00–34.25)	0.96 (0.91–1.01)
OPL	25.00 (22.00–29.00)	31.50 (29.25–34.25)	26.25 (25.25–27.75)	0.78 (0.74–0.82)
ONL	95.00 (87.00–102.00)	70.25 (65.00–77.25)	55.25 (50.25–60.00)	1.69 (1.54–1.83)
PR	69.00 (67.00–72.00)	65.25 (64.00–66.25)	65.00 (63.50–65.75)	1.84 (1.80–1.86)
RPE	16.00 (14.00–17.00)	14.75 (13.50–15.75)	13.0 (12.00–14.00)	0.38 (0.35–0.41)
IRL	186.00 (174.00–201.00)	252.5 (240.75–264.00)	210.25 (200.75–220.25)	6.20 (5.90-6.49)
ORL	86.00 (83.00-89.00)	80.50 (78.25–82.00)	77.75 (76.00–79.25)	2.23 (2.17–2.27)
Overall Retina	272.00 (260.00–288.00)	331.75 (320.50–344.75)	287.75 (277.50–298.38)	8.41 (8.11–8.72)

The table above provides median thickness(µm) and volume values(mm³) and, in parenthesis, the IQR (25th to 75th quartile) of the eight distinct retinal layers plus three combinations (IRL, ORL, and overall retina) in all 347 eyes analyzed, after manual correction of autosegmentation. IQR, interquartile range.

The retinal layers thicknesses by early AMD stage and macular circle are presented in Annex I, while the retinal layers' volume by stage is given in Annex II.

Additionally, retinal layers thicknesses and volumes separated for men and women as well as younger and older than 74.7 years (median age of the population in analysis) are presented in Annexes III-V. In descriptive comparisons between men and women, we found a general thinning of retinal layers

in female eyes across all circles, except for four layers (that is, RNFL, GCL, IPL and RPE) that showed a thickening in the outer circle (Annex III). Overall, the volume of the retinal layers in female eyes was also slightly reduced (Annex V). Comparing descriptively the "younger" (≤74.7 years) with the "older" eyes (>74.7 years), we noticed a thickening of inner retinal layers, but a thinning of outer retinal layers in "older" eyes regarding the central circle (Annex IV). The inner and outer circles were predominantly thinner in "older eyes" (Annex IV). We identified a slight decrease in the volume of the retinal layers in "older" eyes (Annex V).

The median subfoveal choroidal thickness was 238.0 μ m, with an interquartile range (IQR) of 177.0 to 291.0 μ m. The median subfoveal choroidal thickness values by early AMD stage, gender, and median age are shown in Annex VI. Through descriptive comparisons, we noticed that choroidal thickness was lower in stage 3 (229.0 μ m, IQR 152.0–311.0), compared to stages 2a (237.5 μ m, IQR 171.0–289.0) and 2b (268.5 μ m, IQR 228.0–317.0). Besides, we observed a considerable choroid thinning in female eyes, as well as in "older eyes" (median age > 74.7 years).

Differences between stages for each retinal layer

To assess the differences in retinal layers thicknesses within early AMD stages all 347 eyes were considered: 286 eyes in stage 2a, 20 eyes in stage 2b, and 41 eyes in stage 3. The analysis was controlled to age and gender, as previously mentioned, and given the differences described above. Corrected estimates of expected retinal layers thicknesses by AMD status and macular circle are shown in Annex VII and illustrated in Figure 3.

In descriptive comparisons, we could notice that RNFL, GCL, IPL, INL, and OPL, had generally lower thickness in stage 3 in the inner and outer circles. The thinning noticed for the ONL and PRL in stage 3 was presented across all circles, but with a more prominent difference in the central circle. In contrast, the RPE/BrM layer showed increased thickness in stage 3 in the central and inner circles.

We tested for pairwise differences in retinal layer thickness measurements between AMD stages and separately for each macular circle (Table 5).

Considering inner layers, we found statistically significant differences when comparing stage 3 to stage 2a, and generally, the thicknesses were inferior in stage 3. Thus, the GCL and IPL thicknesses were inferior in the inner circle (GCL,p=0.003; IPL,p=0.002) in stage 3. As for the ONL, we also have found a significant reduction from stage 2a to stage 3 in the central circle (p=0.002). Taking into account the outer layers, the RPE/BrM layer was significantly increased in the central circle for stage 3, compared to both stage 2a (p<0.0001) and stage 2b (p=0.002).

No differences were observed regarding the RNFL, INL, OPL, and PRL, but considering the global thinning tendencies across stage observed in Figure 3, they seen to be nonetheless, clinically relevant.



Figure 3. Model-based expected retinal layer thicknesses by early AMD stage, regarding central, inner, and outer circles. Estimates are derived from linear mixed models of 347 eyes with stage 2a (n=286), stage 2b (n=20), and stage 3 (n=41) of early AMD, adjusted for linear age and gender and nested random effects for within-person and within-eye correlations. The expected retinal layer thicknesses (µm) are illustrated above.

	Expected Retinal Layer Thicknesses, µm			Effect Estimates / Pairwise Test p-value		
Retinal layers	2a (n=286)	2b (n=20)	3 (n=41)	2a vs. 2b	2a vs. 3	2b vs. 3
GCL, inner circle	47.5	45.6	42.9	0.043 / 0.953	0.099 / 0.003	0.056 / 0.768
IPL, inner circle	40.1	39.3	37.5	0.018 / 1.000	0.067 / 0.002	0.048 / 0.420
ONL, central circle	95.4	93.1	87.3	0.023 / 1.000	0.088 / 0.002	0.065 / 0.353
RPE, central circle	16.0	15.6	18.4	0.013 / 1.000	-0.140 / <0.001	-0.153 / 0.002

Table 5. Retinal layer thicknesses with significant differences across early AMD stages.

The table above provides Expected Retinal Layer Thicknesses (μ m), effect estimates (on log scale), and p-values of pairwise tests, obtained from layer-specific linear mixed models. The analysis includes 347 eyes with early AMD (stages 2a, 2b, and 3), obtained from the original cohort of AMD incidence study. P-values were judge at Bonferroni-corrected significance level, p < 0.05/24=0.002. Significant results are highlight with bold text.

Association between retinal layers and RPE/BrM layer

To analyze the correlation between the RPE/BrM thickness and the thickness of the neuroretinal layers (RNFL, GCL, IPL, INL, OPL, ONL, and PRL) for each macular circle, separately, only the worst eye of each subject was included, resulting in a total of 234 eyes, being 77.8%(n=182) in stage 2a,

7.3%(n=17) in stage 2b and 15.0%(n=35) in stage 3 (Table 6). The ORL and IRL were excluded from the analysis, as they are collinear with other retinal layers and are not independent.

Variable	RPE/BrM Thickne	RPE/BrM Volume		
Variable	Central circle	cle Inner circle Outer circle		
RNFL	0.032 (0.626)	-0.115 (0.081)	-0.086 (0.193)	-0.073 (0.264)
GCL	0.044 (0.507)	0.046 (0.488)	0.039 (0.561)	0.056 (0.397)
IPL	0.055 (0.405)	0.039 (0.556)	0.063 (0.343)	0.050 (0.451)
INL	-0.032 (0.623)	0.009 (0.891)	0.079 (0.233)	0.102 (0.119)
OPL	-0.115 (0.080)	0.030 (0.645)	0.009 (0.893)	0.082 (0.212)
ONL	0.060 (0.359)	0.247 (<0.001)	0.060 (0.369)	0.156 (0.017)
PRL	-0.039 (0.555)	0.227 (<0.001)	0.218 (<0.001)	0.254 (<0.001)
Age	-0.015 (0.818)	-0.189 (0.004)	-0.079 (0.231)	-0.109 (0.097)
Gender	-0.100 (0.126)	0.006 (0.923)	0.070 (0.287)	0.062 (0.344)
Spherical	0 022 (0 761)	0.022 (0.676)	0 112 (0 128)	0.000 (0.101)
equivalent	0.023 (0.701)	-0.032 (0.070)	-0.113 (0.130)	-0.099 (0.191)
Stage	0.241 (<0.001)	0.162 (0.013)	0.131 (0.046)	0.164 (0.012)

Table 6. Correlation between the RPE/BrM layer thickness and volume to the neuroretinal layers, age, gender, spherical equivalent, and AMD stage.

The table above provides the Spearman correlation coefficient and, in parenthesis, the p-value. These results are based on 234 eyes - worst eye *per* subject. Statistically significant correlations are highlighted with bold text (p<0.05).

Regarding thickness, a weak positive correlation was found between the RPE/BrM and the ONL in the inner circle ($r_s=0.247,p<0.001$), and with the PRL in inner ($r_s=0.227,p<0.001$) and outer circles ($r_s=0.218,p<0.001$) (Table 6). Concerning the layers' volume, we found a positive correlation with the ONL ($r_s=0.156,p=0.017$) and the PRL ($r_s=0.254,p<0.001$) (Table 6). Furthermore, we also identified positive correlations between RPE/BrM layer and the stage both for thickness and volume, and a negative correlation with age (p<0.05) (Table 6). Although this was not the objective of the present analysis, we could observe that, in general, age was negatively correlated with the retinal layers' thicknesses and volumes, while the spherical equivalent and gender was not correlated.

Afterwards, stepwise backward multivariate linear regression analysis was performed. Most associations remained statistically significant after adjusting for age, sex, refractive status and AMD stage, and new ones were established. Statistically significant results are shown in Table 7.

With the increasing thickness of the RPE/BrM layer, the OPL at the central circle became thinner, while the GCL became thicker. The OPL and ONL at the inner circle and the IPL and PRL at the outer circle were also positively associated with the RPE/BrM layer thickness. Similarly, the increasing volume of this layer was related to a greater ONL and PRL volume. Furthermore, with the increase of the stage, there was an increment in the thickness and volume of the RPE/BrM layer.

Variable	RPE/BrM Thicknes	RPF/BrM Volume		
Variable	Central circle	Inner circle	Outer circle	
GCL	0.299 (<0.001)	-	-	-
IPL	-	-	0.387 (0.044)	-
OPL	-0.182 (0.040)	0.200 (0.012)	-	-
ONL	-	0.218 (<0.001)	-	0.118 (0.046)
PRL	-	_	1.098 (p<0.001)	0.760 (<0.001)
Gender	-	_	0.037 (0.033)	_
Stage	0.113 (<0.001)	0.051 (<0.001)	0.026 (0.018)	0.038 (<0.001)

Table 7. Multivariate linear regression analysis of thickness and volume between RPE/BrM layer and retinal layers.

The table above provides the regression coefficient β and, in parenthesis, the p-value, derived from stepwise backward multivariate linear regression analysis separately for each macular layer. Only significant results are presented, and are based on the set of 234 eyes - worst eye *per* subject. All retinal layer thicknesses were log-transformed and adjusted for age, gender, refractive status, and AMD stage. Variables with p-value>0.1 were removed from the model. New associations are highlighted with bold text.

Qualitative SD-OCT analysis and relation to retinal layer and choroidal thickness

The presence of qualitative retinal features obtained in the SD-OCT grading from de AMD Incidence Study was also considered and major findings are presented in Annex VIII. The RPD and ERM were the most prevalent features in this population, being present in 24.93% and 18.84% of the studied eyes. The HF and VMA were also common, existing in 11.30% and 10.43% of the eyes, respectively. Very few eyes presented drusenoid PED (1.16%).

To assess the relation between each retinal layer thickness, by macular circle, and choroidal thickness with the qualitative retinal features, stepwise multivariate linear regression analysis was performed. Statistically significant results are presented in Table 8. As the prevalence of drusenoid PED in the studied population was low, they were excluded from the analysis.

Eyes with RPD were significantly associated a thinner RPE/BrM layer (central and inner circles) and thinner subfoveal choroid. When comparing the retinal layers and choroidal thicknesses, between pseudodrusen and non-pseudodrusen eyes, significant differences were found (Annex IX). Eyes with HF were associated to thicker INL (inner circle) and RPE/BrM layer (central and inner circles).

Association with Best-Corrected Visual Acuity

To assess the functional repercussions of early AMD, correlations between the retinal layer thicknesses in the central circle and the BCVA were evaluated. Only the worst eye of each patient was included in this analysis(n=234). The BCVA was positively correlated with the ONL thickness at the central circle (r_s =0.155,p=0.018) and negatively with age (r_s =-0.357,p<0.001). Afterwards, stepwise backward multivariate linear regression analysis was performed, and significant associations are shown in Table 9.

Outcomes	Reticular pseudodrusen	Hyperreflective foci	Epiretinal membrane
Outcomes	(β/p-value)	(β/p-value)	(β/p-value)
Central RNFL	-	-	0.126/0.002
Inner RNFL	-	-	0.144/<0.001
Outer RNFL	-	-	0.137/<0.001
Central GCL	0.142/0.004	-	0.189/<0.001
Central IPL	0.067/0.042	-	0.093/0.004
Central INL	-	-	0.137/0.007
Inner INL	-	0.062/0.008	-
Central RPE	-0.103/0.029	0.130/0.036	0.092/0.042
Inner RPE	-0.110/<0.001	0.096/0.005	-
Choroid	-63.902/<0.001	-	-

Table 8. Statistically significant results from the association between retinal layers and choroidal thicknesses with

 the presence of qualitative retinal features (RPD, ERM, HF).

The table above provides the regression coefficient β and the p-value, derived from stepwise backward multivariate linear regression analysis. Only significant results are presented, and are based on the set of 234 eyes - worst eye *per* subject. All retinal layer thicknesses were log-transformed, except the choroid due to its normal distribution, and adjusted for age, gender, refractive status, and AMD stage. Variables with p-value>0.1 were removed from the model.

Table 9. Multivariate linear regression analysis of retinal layers thicknesses (central circle) and the Best-Corrected

 Visual Acuity (only significant associations are presented).

Variables	Regression Coefficient, β	p-value
IPL	0.311	<0.001
INL	-0.104	0.032
ONL	0.233	<0.001
PRL	-0.513	0.011
Age	-0.007	<0.001

The table above provides the regression coefficient β and, in parenthesis, the pvalue. These results are based on 234 eyes, the worst eye *per* subject. All retinal layer thicknesses were log-transformed and adjusted for age, gender, refractive status, and AMD stage. To statistical significance, p-value was established at 0.05.

DISCUSSION

We report the findings from a detailed quantitative morphological evaluation of all retinal layers and choroid in early AMD-stages eyes (stages 2a, 2b, and 3) in a cohort of participants from the AMD *Coimbra Eye Study*.(18) We have demonstrated that changes in the inner retina are observed early in the disease process since the increasing stages were associated with thinner inner retinal layers, that is, CGL, IPL, and ONL. These outcomes support the existence of neurodegeneration already in early AMD stages. On the other hand, we also reproduced previous findings on the outer retina, since we have shown that within early AMD stages, the RPE/BrM layer becomes thicker, being consistent with the expected drusen volume increase as the disease progresses in early stages.(1, 6, 23, 24)

The demographic data of our study population is in accordance with previous reports for AMD, with a mean age of 74.5 years, and a higher prevalence of early AMD in women, which allows for comparisons with preceding studies.(18) The most prevalent risk factors in this population are hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, diabetes, and overweight, which may indicate that the AMD pathogenesis may have something in common with cardiovascular diseases.(25)

First, we have analyzed the retinal thickness and volume values of all retinal layers individually, by circle (central, inner, and outer) and by stage (2a, 2b, and 3), acquired after the semiautomatic segmentation. We compared our raw thickness results with reference values given by German AugUR Study, the only epidemiologic study, beside ours, that provides an extensive report on retinal layers thickness analysis in AMD.(6) When compared to the reference values for the general older population(70+ years), our retinal layers thicknesses showed similar values and tendencies across the central, inner, and outer circles.(6) However, when comparing our results with their thickness measurements for a population aged 70+ without changes in the CFP, we could notice the presence of a thinner IRL in our population consistent across all circles, which could be related to the involvement of inner layers and degeneration in early stages of the disease.(2, 4, 26)

The volume of the distinct retinal layers was also assessed. Concerning Lamin *et al.*(2) study, the retinal layers' volume of 71 eyes with early and intermediate AMD from an identical population regarding age and gender, was determined, and significant differences were reported when comparing to the control group: GCL+IPL and INL volumes were smaller in AMD eyes, where PRL and RPE/BrM volumes were greater in this population. Considering the retinal layers that showed significant differences in the above-mentioned report, our volume measures have shown similar values and tendencies when compared to their AMD group.

The median subfoveal choroidal thickness obtained is also comparable with previous studies.(27) Moreover, we could perceive that the raw value in stage 3 was lower, comparing to stages 2a and 2b of the disease. The finding that the choroidal thickness decreases as the stage of AMD increases has been reported in previous studies, and may be related to atrophy of underlying capillaries and medium-sized vessels.(13, 27) The increased value of choroid thickness in stage 2b is not consistent with previous studies and may be related to the fact that the sample size is considerably smaller(n=20) than in stages 2a(n=286) and 3(n=41).

The differences observed through descriptive comparisons in thickness and volume of the retinal/choroidal layers between "younger" and "older" eyes, as well as male and female eyes, highlight the necessity to adjust the inferential analysis for age and gender.

To assess for the presence and progression of possible degenerative changes in the inner and outer retina, we focused on the evolution of all retinal layer's thicknesses across early AMD stages using a linear mixed models' analysis. There were significant differences to be described. Overall, stage 3 of early AMD was significantly associated with lower thickness of GCL, IPL and ONL, and a greater thickness of RPE/BrM layer. Importantly, despite they have not reached statistical significance, almost all neuroretinal layers demonstrated a global tendency of thinning across early AMD stages.

The thickness variation observed in GCL and IPL in the inner circle, and not in the central circle, may be related to the fact that these inner layers are predominantly preserved in the central circle in early AMD eyes. (4) However, these retinal layers do not exist in the central fovea, meaning that possible changes in the central circle may be too small to be discernible in our analysis. As for the thickness decrease observed in the inner circle, there are several hypotheses to explain this variation of the inner retinal layers at this level of the disease progression. One is related to the reduction of the layers perfusion and subsequent ischemia developing from abnormal superficial retinal microvasculature, that is, loss of vascular density as well as vessel's caliber. (2, 4, 26, 28) Others refer to reducing transneuronal input resulting from the photoreceptors' loss or damage that could trigger the inner retina degeneration process.(2, 4, 26) Our finding of a thinner ONL, where the nuclei of the photoreceptor cell are located, in stage 3 supports the idea of a photoreceptor loss or damage in early AMD, and not only in advanced stages of the disease, where it is characteristic.(6) Despite the difference for the PRL thickness across early AMD stages did not reach significance, descriptively comparing we could notice that its thickness value was lower in stage 3 after correcting for age and gender, which sustains what was afore-mentioned. Thus, with these consistent results, we can suggest that inner retinal layers thinning are potential quantitative imaging biomarkers of neuroretinal degeneration in early AMD stages.

In our work, we estimated the drusen thickness and volume, a hallmark of early AMD, indirectly through the thickness of the RPE/BrM layer, as they are accumulated between the RPE and BrM. The finding of a thicker RPE/BrM layer in the central circle for stage 3, compared to 2a and 2b stages is comparable with previous studies and may be related to the drusen growth along early AMD stages.(1, 6, 23, 24) The positive correlations found between RPE/BrM layer thickness and volume with the AMD stage support this finding.

The significant thinning of ONL observed in stage 3 of early AMD may result from the squishing of this layer due to the drusen growth, along with the photoreceptor cell loss/damage already at earlydisease stages.(1, 6) The associations for the RPE/BrM and ONL were only noticeable in the central circle, which is in agreement with the foveal region being the primary place of AMD pathology.(6) Therefore, these layers may also be potential quantitative biomarkers of early AMD, as it was suggested by Brandl *et al.*(6)

To better understand the relation between RPE/BrM layer with the neuroretinal layers, a correlation analysis followed by a multivariate regression analysis adjusted to age, gender, refractive

status, and early AMD stage was performed. Although several correlations have been found, the strength of the analysis was weak. The inverse association noticed with OPL thickness in the fovea may be related to the mechanical tension caused by the RPE/BrM enlargement, as advanced confluent drusen appear to thin both inner and outer retinal layers.(10, 24) Also, since the RPE is responsible, among other functions, for the photoreceptors phagocytosis (mainly outer segments), its disintegration and consequent lipid deposition on BrM ("oil spill hypothesis") with increasing drusen volume lead to the loss or damage of photoreceptor cell, resulting in a diminished transneuronal input and subsequent thinning of inner retinal layers as well.(23, 24) However, the findings over the GCL, IPL, and the OPL(inner circle) do not support the previous explanations. The positive associations observed in the ONL and PRL thickness and volume were also not expected, as these structures are usually affected earlier with the drusen growth process.(24) Thus, careful conclusions must be taken regarding this aspect.

Besides, we analyzed specific OCT qualitative features previously graded in our studied population and we explored their relationship with retinal layers and choroidal thicknesses. Considering the RPD our work confirms that their presence is strongly associated with a thinner choroid, and we also found that they are related to a thinner RPE/BrM layer, again pointing to their association with RPE atrophy in AMD. Both findings are consistent with previous studies showing a specific phenotype in AMD when RPD are present.(1, 13, 29, 30) Despite our results on the inner retinal layers being non-significant in multivariate analysis when searching for an association of RPD to inner retinal layers, we found that globally in our cohort, eyes with RPD had significantly thinner inner layers compared to eyes not having RPD. Again it is described that eyes with RPD are associated with retinal thinning along with the choroidal thinning.(13)

Considering the HF, several studies have suggested that its presence may represent the migration of activated RPE cells into the neurosensory retina, which may support the thicker INL noticed in our study.(31-33) With the drusen growth within early AMD stages, the RPE disarrangement increases the number of HF, which may explain our finding of a thicker RPE/BrM layer in eyes presenting this retinal feature.(1, 33) Previous studies had shown that the presence of HF was associated with disrupted PRL, however, no association was found in our work.(31, 33, 34)

To assess the functional repercussions of early AMD, the comparison between the BCVA with the retinal layers' thickness in the central circle was performed. Our results suggested that the thinning of ONL and IPL, along with the thickening of PRL and INL were associated with a lower BCVA. The thinning of ONL being associated with a diminished visual acuity was expected giving the fact that this layer contains the nuclei of the photoreceptor cell. The result of a thinner IPL being associated with a lower of visual acuity is reasonable, as this layer contributes to the continuous neuronal transmission across the neurosensory retina. However, the finding of a thicker INL and PRL being associated with a lower BCVA was unexpectable. Regarding PRL, this result is not consistent with some studies, where it was described that a decreased visual function was associated with a thinning of this layer. (6, 24, 35) However, this can be explained considering previous histopathological studies that revealed a displacement of nuclei from the ONL to the layer of rods and cones, that is, the PRL, at very early stages

of AMD, leading to an initial expansion of the PRL, but afterwards evolving to atrophy with PRL thinning.(2)

Our study's main limitations' can be described in the following key points. First, the presence of groups with different sample sizes may have underpowered our statistical analysis. Second, although hyperopia had shown to be associated with a higher risk of AMD and a thicker RPE/BrM, we were not able to use the spherical equivalent to adjust the refractive status in our retinal layer's analysis, which may have induced a bias in the analysis of retinal thickness across AMD stages. However, the impact of this confounder in the RPE/BrM thickness appears to be lesser comparing to the observed differences, as Brandl *et al.* concluded, and we support this idea since we found no association between them.(6) Third, another limitation of our work is that choroidal thickness was determined by a single-point measure taken at the foveal center. Finally, despite severe ERMs have been excluded, we should have included its presence as a covariate in our analysis, given their potential interference with the retinal layers thickness and BCVA.(36, 37)

The main strengths of our study are related to the fact that it is one of the few using a large population-based dataset to further analyze how early AMD changes by stage severity, specifically regarding the inner retinal layers, through complex multivariate analysis. Thus, we provided further support to the concept of AMD as a neurodegenerative disease involving the entire retina. Additionally, we have explored how the distinct retinal layers relate to RPE-BrM/drusen volume variation, SD-OCT qualitative markers, and functional status of the patients.

Regarding future work, more associations should be evaluated between the retinal layers and the choroid and correlations with the most prevalent risk factors should also be assessed.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, despite the changes noticed in the outer retina, our data showed that quantitative changes in the inner retina are also observed in early AMD, and thinning of the neuroretina increases by stage severity. This suggests that quantitative analysis of inner layers may serve as biomarkers of disease progression and supports the existence of neurodegeneration in the early stages of AMD. Furthermore, the associations found between thickness/volume of some neuroretinal layers and the RPE/Bruch layer suggest that they are proportionally related, except for the OPL at the fovea, perhaps due to mechanic effect of the underlying, more centrally located, drusen. Additionally, pseudodrusen and hyperreflective foci, have shown to affect retinal and/or choroidal thickness. Our work also sustains the concept of a lower BCVA being related to a loss or damage of the photoreceptor cell already in early AMD stages. Thus, AMD is a degenerative disease affecting the entire retina since its very beginning.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The research was supported by Association for Innovation and Biomedical Research on Light and Image (AIBILI). The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the AIBILI.

The authors thank the support of Sandrina Nunes regarding the statistical analysis of the collected data.

REFERENCES

1. Nittala MG, Hogg RE, Luo Y, Velaga SB, Silva R, Alves D, et al. Changes in Retinal Layer Thickness in the Contralateral Eye of Patients with Unilateral Neovascular Age-Related Macular Degeneration. Ophthalmology Retina. 2019;3(2):112-21.

2. Lamin A, Oakley JD, Dubis AM, Russakoff DB, Sivaprasad S. Changes in volume of various retinal layers over time in early and intermediate age-related macular degeneration. Eye. 2019;33(3):428-34.

3. Gil JQ, Marques JP, Hogg R, Rosina C, Cachulo ML, Santos A, et al. Clinical features and longterm progression of reticular pseudodrusen in age-related macular degeneration: findings from a multicenter cohort. Eye (Lond). 2017;31(3):364-71.

4. Muftuoglu IK, Ramkumar HL, Bartsch DU, Meshi A, Gaber R, Freeman WR. QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS OF THE INNER RETINAL LAYER THICKNESSES IN AGE-RELATED MACULAR DEGENERATION USING CORRECTED OPTICAL COHERENCE TOMOGRAPHY SEGMENTATION. Retina. 2018;38(8):1478-84.

 Cachulo Mda L, Lobo C, Figueira J, Ribeiro L, Lains I, Vieira A, et al. Prevalence of Age-Related Macular Degeneration in Portugal: The Coimbra Eye Study - Report 1. Ophthalmologica. 2015;233(3-4):119-27.

6. Brandl C, Brucklmayer C, Gunther F, Zimmermann ME, Kuchenhoff H, Helbig H, et al. Retinal Layer Thicknesses in Early Age-Related Macular Degeneration: Results From the German AugUR Study. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2019;60(5):1581-94.

 Colijn JM, Buitendijk GHS, Prokofyeva E, Alves D, Cachulo ML, Khawaja AP, et al. Prevalence of Age-Related Macular Degeneration in Europe: The Past and the Future. Ophthalmology. 2017;124(12):1753-63.

8. Wong WL, Su X, Li X, Cheung CM, Klein R, Cheng CY, et al. Global prevalence of age-related macular degeneration and disease burden projection for 2020 and 2040: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2014;2(2):e106-16.

9. Jonas JB, Cheung CMG, Panda-Jonas S. Updates on the Epidemiology of Age-Related Macular Degeneration. Asia Pac J Ophthalmol (Phila). 2017;6(6):493-7.

10. Lee EK, Yu HG. Ganglion Cell-Inner Plexiform Layer and Peripapillary Retinal Nerve Fiber Layer Thicknesses in Age-Related Macular Degeneration. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2015;56(6):3976-83.

Wightman AJ, Guymer RH. Reticular pseudodrusen: current understanding. Clin Exp Optom.
 2018.

12. Spaide RF, Ooto S, Curcio CA. Subretinal drusenoid deposits AKA pseudodrusen. Surv Ophthalmol. 2018;63(6):782-815.

13. Ahn SM, Lee SY, Hwang S-Y, Kim S-W, Oh J, Yun C. Retinal vascular flow and choroidal thickness in eyes with early age-related macular degeneration with reticular pseudodrusen. BMC Ophthalmology. 2018;18(1):184.

14. Mitchell P, Liew G, Gopinath B, Wong TY. Age-related macular degeneration. Lancet. 2018;392(10153):1147-59.

15. Joachim N, Colijn JM, Kifley A, Lee KE, Buitendijk GHS, Klein BEK, et al. Five-year progression of unilateral age-related macular degeneration to bilateral involvement: the Three Continent AMD Consortium report. Br J Ophthalmol. 2017;101(9):1185-92.

16. Cachulo Mda L, Lains I, Lobo C, Figueira J, Ribeiro L, Marques JP, et al. Age-related macular degeneration in Portugal: prevalence and risk factors in a coastal and an inland town. The Coimbra Eye Study - Report 2. Acta Ophthalmol. 2016;94(6):e442-53.

17. Bird AC, Bressler NM, Bressler SB, Chisholm IH, Coscas G, Davis MD, et al. An international classification and grading system for age-related maculopathy and age-related macular degeneration. The International ARM Epidemiological Study Group. Surv Ophthalmol. 1995;39(5):367-74.

18. Farinha CVL, Cachulo ML, Alves D, Pires I, Marques JP, Barreto P, et al. Incidence of Age-Related Macular Degeneration in the Central Region of Portugal: The Coimbra Eye Study - Report 5. Ophthalmic Res. 2019:1-10.

19. Farinha C, Cachulo ML, Coimbra R, Alves D, Nunes S, Pires I, et al. Age-Related Macular Degeneration Staging by Color Fundus Photography vs. Multimodal Imaging-Epidemiological Implications (The Coimbra Eye Study-Report 6). J Clin Med. 2020;9(5).

20. Won JY, Kim SE, Park Y-H. Effect of age and sex on retinal layer thickness and volume in normal eyes. Medicine. 2016;95(46):e5441-e.

21. Abdolrahimzadeh S, Parisi F, Scavella V, Recupero SM. OPTICAL COHERENCE TOMOGRAPHY EVIDENCE ON THE CORRELATION OF CHOROIDAL THICKNESS AND AGE WITH VASCULARIZED RETINAL LAYERS IN NORMAL EYES. Retina. 2016;36(12):2329-38.

22. Gattoussi S, Buitendijk GHS, Peto T, Leung I, Schmitz-Valckenberg S, Oishi A, et al. The European Eye Epidemiology spectral-domain optical coherence tomography classification of macular diseases for epidemiological studies. Acta Ophthalmol. 2019;97(4):364-71.

23. Reiter GS, Told R, Schlanitz FG, Bogunovic H, Baumann L, Sacu S, et al. Impact of Drusen Volume on Quantitative Fundus Autofluorescence in Early and Intermediate Age-Related Macular Degeneration. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2019;60(6):1937-42.

24. Nivison-Smith L, Wang H, Assaad N, Kalloniatis M. Retinal Thickness Changes throughout the Natural History of Drusen in Age-related Macular Degeneration. Optom Vis Sci. 2018;95(8):648-55.

25. Pennington KL, DeAngelis MM. Epidemiology of age-related macular degeneration (AMD): associations with cardiovascular disease phenotypes and lipid factors. Eye Vis (Lond). 2016;3:34.

26. Savastano MC, Minnella AM, Tamburrino A, Giovinco G, Ventre S, Falsini B. Differential vulnerability of retinal layers to early age-related macular degeneration: evidence by SD-OCT segmentation analysis. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2014;55(1):560-6.

27. Lu L, Xu S, He F, Liu Y, Zhang Y, Wang J, et al. Assessment of Choroidal Microstructure and Subfoveal Thickness Change in Eyes With Different Stages of Age-Related Macular Degeneration. Medicine (Baltimore). 2016;95(10):e2967.

28. Trinh M, Kalloniatis M, Nivison-Smith L. Vascular Changes in Intermediate Age-Related Macular Degeneration Quantified Using Optical Coherence Tomography Angiography. Translational vision science & technology. 2019;8(4):20-.

29. Camacho P, Dutra-Medeiros M, Cabral D, Silva R. Outer Retina and Choroidal Thickness in Intermediate Age-Related Macular Degeneration: Reticular Pseudodrusen Findings. Ophthalmic Res. 2018;59(4):212-20.

30. Yun C, Oh J, Ahn SE, Hwang SY, Kim SW, Huh K. Peripapillary choroidal thickness in patients with early age-related macular degeneration and reticular pseudodrusen. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2016;254(3):427-35.

31. Hsia Y, Yang CH, Hsieh YT, Yang CM, Ho TC, Lai TT. Hyperreflective foci in predicting the treatment outcome of antivascular endothelial growth factor in neovascular age-related macular degeneration. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2020;258(2):273-80.

32. Curcio CA, Zanzottera EC, Ach T, Balaratnasingam C, Freund KB. Activated Retinal Pigment Epithelium, an Optical Coherence Tomography Biomarker for Progression in Age-Related Macular Degeneration. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2017;58(6):Bio211-bio26.

33. Christenbury JG, Folgar FA, O'Connell RV, Chiu SJ, Farsiu S, Toth CA, et al. Progression of intermediate age-related macular degeneration with proliferation and inner retinal migration of hyperreflective foci. Ophthalmology. 2013;120(5):1038-45.

34. Nassisi M, Fan W, Shi Y, Lei J, Borrelli E, Ip M, et al. Quantity of Intraretinal Hyperreflective Foci in Patients With Intermediate Age-Related Macular Degeneration Correlates With 1-Year Progression. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2018;59(8):3431-9.

35. Pappuru RR, Ouyang Y, Nittala MG, Hemmati HD, Keane PA, Walsh AC, et al. Relationship between outer retinal thickness substructures and visual acuity in eyes with dry age-related macular degeneration. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2011;52(9):6743-8.

36. Nur A. Clinical Use of OCT in the Management of Epiretinal Membranes. 2018.

37. Takagi S, Kudo S, Yokota H, Akiba M, Mandai M, Hirami Y, et al. Assessment of the deformation of the outer nuclear layer in the Epiretinal membrane using spectral-domain optical coherence tomography. BMC Ophthalmology. 2019;19(1):113.

ANNEX I.

Retinal layer thickness values in a population aged 55+ by early AMD stage, regarding central, inner and outer circles.

RETINAL	CENTRAL CIRCLE				INNER CIRCLE			OUTER CIRCLE		
LAYERS	2a	2b	3	2a	2b	3	2a	2b	3	
RNFL	12.0	13.0	12.0	20.5	20.8	20.0	34.8	34.6	33.5	
	(11.0–14.0)	(11.0–14.5)	(11.0–14.0)	(19.5–22.3)	(18.8–22.3)	(18.8–21.3)	(31.8–37.8)	(29.1–39.3)	(28.5–37.8)	
CCI	14.0	14.0	15.0	48.3	47.8	45.8	33.3	33.0	32.3	
GCL	(12.0–16.0)	(12.0–15.0)	(12.0–16.0)	(44.0–51.3)	(44.8–50.5)	(39.9–50.3)	(30.8–36.0)	(30.0–35.4)	(28.8–34.5)	
ю	20.0	20.5	20.0	40.3	40.6	37.3	28.5	27.6	27.3	
IFL	(18.0–22.0)	(19.0–22.0)	(18.0–23.0)	(38.0–42.5)	(38.1–41.5)	(34.9–41.3)	(26.5–30.5)	(26.3–29.4)	(25.5–29.3)	
INI	20.0	20.5	23.0	41.0	40.4	40.3	32.5	32.9	32.3	
	(17.0–24.0)	(18.0–23.5)	(17.0–28.0)	(39.0–43.5)	(36.5–44.8)	(38.0–42.9)	(31.0–34.3)	(30.4–35.6)	(30.8–34.3)	
	25.0	26.0	25.0	31.5	32.0	31.5	26.3	27.0	26.3	
OFL	(21.0–29.0)	(22.0–31.5)	(23.0–31.0)	(29.0–34.0)	(30.5–36.1)	(29.8–35.5)	(25.3–27.8)	(25.5–27.9)	(25.3–27.3)	
	95.0	94.0	93.0	70.3	73.8	69.8	55.3	56.8	55.3	
ONL	(87.0–102.0)	(86.0–103.5)	(86.0–101.0)	(65.0–77.3)	(69.0–78.0)	(65.3–72.3)	(50.3–60.0)	(53.3–59.9)	(49.3–61.5)	
DDI	69.5	70.0	68.0	65.3	65.5	65.5	65.0	64.9	64.8	
FNL	(67.0–72.0)	(67.0–73.0)	(66.0–71.0)	(64.0–66.5)	(64.8–65.9)	(64.3–66.8)	(63.5–65.5)	(64.0–65.5)	(63.0–66.3)	
DDE	15.0	16.5	17.0	14.8	14.9	15.3	13.0	13.6	13.3	
	(14.0–17.0)	(15.0–17.0)	(15.0–21.0)	(13.5–15.8)	(14.0–16.3)	(13.8–16.5)	(11.8–14.0)	(12.3–15.1)	(12.1–14.1)	
IDI	186.0	192.0	189.0	253.0	252.4	245.8	211.8	210.5	206.3	
	(174.0–200.0)	(178.5–199.5)	(176.0–204.0)	(241.0–264.3)	(243.3–263.4)	(233.0–257.8)	(201.8–220.3)	(197.4–222.0)	(191.5–215.3)	
	86.0	86.0	87.0	80.0	81.3	81.5	77.6	78.6	78.5	
UKL	(83.0–89.0)	(84.0–89.0)	(84.0–90.0)	(78.0–81.8)	(79.1–82.1)	(79.3–83.8)	(76.0–79.3)	(76.9–80.0)	(75.5–80.3)	
Overall	271.0	275.5	276.0	332.0	333.6	326.5	288.5	288.9	285.0	
retina	(260.0–286.0)	(266.0–284.0)	(259.0–295.0)	(320.5–346.0)	(323.4–343.1)	(315.5–339.75)	(278.4–298.6)	(275.3–301.3)	(272.0–291.8)	

The table above provides median thickness values (µm) and, in parenthesis, the IQR (25th to 75th quartile) of the eight distinct retinal layers plus three combinations (IRL, ORL, and overall retina) in all 347 eyes analyzed from 234 patients. Results are separated by early AMD stage as well as for central, inner, and outer circles. IQR, interquartile range.

ANNEX II.

LAYER	STAGES					
	2a	2b	3			
RNFL	0.88 (0.81–0.96)	0.88 (0.75–0.98)	0.84 (0.74–0.94)			
GCL	1.03 (0.94–1.10)	1.02 (0.94–1.07)	0.98 (0.87–1.06)			
IPL	0.88 (0.81–0.93)	0.86 (0.82–0.90)	0.83 (0.78–0.89)			
INL	0.96 (0.92–1.01)	0.98 (0.89–1.06)	0.94 (0.90–1.02)			
OPL	0.78 (0.74–0.82)	0.80 (0.76–0.83)	0.77 (0.75–0.83)			
ONL	1.69 (1.53–1.83)	1.75 (1.64–1.83)	1.68 (1.55–1.83)			
PRL	1.84 (1.80–1.86)	1.85 (1.83–1.86)	1.84 (1.80–1.88)			
RPE	0.38 (0.35–0.40)	0.39 (0.37–0.43)	0.39 (0.36–0.41)			
IRL	6.23 (5.93–6.50)	6.16 (5.91–6.57)	6.05 (5.59–6.25)			
ORL	2.22 (2.17–2.26)	2.25 (2.20–2.28)	2.25 (2.16–2.29)			
Overall retina	8.44 (8.12–8.73)	8.40 (8.12-8.82)	8.28 (7.91–8.51)			

Retinal layer volume values by early AMD stage.

The table above provides median volume values (mm³) and, in parenthesis, the IQR (25th to 75th quartile) of the eight distinct retinal layers plus three combinations (IRL, ORL, and overall retina) in all 347 eyes analyzed, separated by early AMD stage. IQR, interquartile range.

ANNEX III.

Retinal layer thickness values in a population aged 55+ separated for men and women.	
--	--

RETINAL	Male eyes median thickness (IQR)			Female eyes median thickness (IQR)		
LAVERS	Central circle	Inner circle	Outer circle	Central circle	Inner circle	Outer circle
LATERS	(n=122)	(n=122)	(n=122)	(n=225)	(n=225)	(n=225)
RNFL	13.0 (12.0–15.0)	20.8 (19.5–22.8)	33.9 (30.4–37.3)	12.0 (10.0–13.0)	20.5 (19.3–22.0)	34.8 (32.0–38.3)
GCL	15.0 (13.0–18.0)	48.0 (43.0–52.3)	32.8 (30.6–35.6)	13.0 (12.0–15.0)	48.0 (44.0–50.8)	33.5 (30.3–36.0)
IPL	21.5 (19.0–23.0)	40.5 (37.0–43.0)	28.4 (26.5–30.4)	19.0 (18.0–21.0)	40.0 (38.0–42.0)	28.5 (26.3–30.1)
INL	24.0 (20.0–28.0)	42.5 (39.8–45.0)	32.8 (31.5–35.1)	19.0 (16.0–22.0)	40.3 (38.0–43.0)	32.3 (30.8–34.3)
OPL	25.0 (22.0–30.0)	31.5 (29.5–34.8)	26.3 (25.5–27.8)	25.0 (21.0–29.0)	31.5 (29.0–34.0)	26.3 (25.0–27.8)
ONL	96.0 (90.0–104.0)	71.8 (65.8–78.3)	57.5 (53.9–62.1)	93.0 (86.0–101.0)	70.0 (65.0–76.5)	54.5 (49.0–59.0)
PRL	69.0 (66.0–72.0)	65.8 (65.0–67.3)	65.5 (64.3–66.0)	69.0 (67.0–73.0)	65.0 (63.8–66.0)	64.5 (63.0–65.5)
RPE	16.0 (14.0–18.0)	14.5 (13.5–15.5)	12.9 (11.8–13.8)	16.0 (14.0–17.0)	14.8 (13.5–15.8)	13.0 (12.0–14.0)
IRL	194.0 (184.0–210.0)	257.1 (242.0–269.0)	213.0 (203.0–221.8)	180.0 (169.0–194.0)	249.8 (240.0–261.8)	209.0 (199.5–219.3)
ORL	86.0 (83.0–89.0)	80.9 (78.8–83.0)	78.5 (76.8–79.8)	86.0 (83.0–89.0)	80.0 (78.0–81.8)	77.5 (75.8–79.3)
Overall retina	280.5 (269.0–297.0)	336.6 (325.5–347.8)	291.3 (282.1–299.4)	268.0 (256.0–281.0)	329.5 (319.0–343.5)	287.0 (275.8–296.8)

The table above provides median thickness values (µm) and, in parenthesis, the IQR (25th to 75th quartile) of the eight distinct retinal layers plus three combinations (IRL, ORL, and overall retina) in all 347 eyes analyzed from 234 patients (122 male eyes, 225 female eyes). Results are separated for men and women as well as central, inner, and outer circles. IQR, interquartile range.

ANNEX IV.

DETINAL	Age participa	nts ≤74.7 years median th	nickness (IQR)	Age participa	nts >74.7 years median th	nickness (IQR)
	Central circle	Inner circle	Outer circle	Central circle	Inner circle	Outer circle
LATERS	(n=168)	(n=168)	(n=168)	(n=179)	(n=179)	(n=179)
RNFL	12.0 (11.0–13.0)	20.5 (19.3–21.8)	34.8 (30.6–38.1)	13.0 (11.0–14.0)	20.5 (19.5–22.5)	34.5 (31.8–37.8)
GCL	13.0 (12.0–16.0)	48.1 (45.3–52.0)	34.0 (31.8–36.9)	14.0 (12.0–17.0)	47.9 (42.8–50.5)	32.5 (30.0–35.0)
IPL	19.0 (18.0–22.0)	40.9 (38.1–42.5)	29.0 (27.0–30.8)	20.0 (18.0–22.0)	39.5 (37.3–42.0)	27.8 (25.5–29.3)
INL	19.0 (16.0–23.0)	40.9 (39.3–43.5)	33.0 (31.6–35.3)	22.0 (18.0–26.0)	40.8 (38.3–43.5)	31.8 (30.3–33.3)
OPL	25.0 (22.0–29.0)	31.9 (29.3–34.8)	26.5 (25.5–28.0)	25.0 (22.0–29.0)	31.0 (29.3–34.0)	26.0 (25.0–27.5)
ONL	93.0 (86.0–101.0)	70.3 (65.8–75.6)	55.3 (50.9–59.1)	96.0 (87.0–102.0)	70.3 (64.0–78.3)	55.5 (49.3–61.0)
PRL	71.0 (68.0–73.0)	65.6 (64.5–67.4)	65.0 (63.5–66.0)	68.0 (66.0–70.0)	65.0 (63.8–65.8)	64.8 (63.5–65.5)
RPE	16.0 (14.5–17.0)	14.8 (13.8–15.8)	13.0 (12.0–14.0)	15.0 (14.0–18.0)	14.5 (13.3–15.8)	13.0 (11.8–14.0)
IRL	183.0 (171.5–195.0)	254.9 (241.0–263.9)	212.8 (203.1–221.3)	189.0 (177.0–204.0)	249.8 (239.8–264.3)	208.0 (196.5–219.3)
ORL	87.5 (85.0–89.5)	81.0 (79.0–82.5)	78.0 (76.5–79.6)	85.0 (81.0–88.0)	79.5 (77.5–81.8)	77.5 (75.8–79.3)
Overall retina	271.0 (258.5–283.5)	334.4 (322.1–346.1)	289.8 (280.9–300.4)	274.0 (260.0–291.0)	330.0 (318.3–344.0)	286.0 (274.6–296.0)

Retinal layer thickness values in a population aged 55+ separated for "young" and "old".

The table above provides median thickness values (µm) and, in parenthesis, the IQR (25th to 75th quartile) of the eight distinct retinal layers plus three combinations (IRL, ORL, and overall retina) in all 347 eyes analyzed from 234 patients (168 "young" eyes, 179 "old" eyes). Results are separated for participants younger and older than 74.7 years (=median) as well as central, inner, and outer circles. IQR, interquartile range.

ANNEX V.

	Median volume (IQR) by Gender		Median volume (I	QR) (mm³) by Age
RETINAL LAYERS	Male eyes	Female eyes	≤74.7 years	>74.7 years
	(n=122)	(n=225)	(n=168)	(n=179)
RNFL	0.86 (0.78–0.95)	0.87 (0.81–0.96)	0.88 (0.79–0.96)	0.87 (0.81–0.96)
GCL	1.02 (0.94–1.09)	1.03 (0.94–1.09)	1.04 (0.96–1.11)	1.00 (0.92–1.06)
IPL	0.87 (0.81–0.93)	0.87 (0.81–0.92)	0.89 (0.83–0.94)	0.86 (0.79–0.90)
INL	0.97 (0.94–1.03)	0.96 (0.90–1.00)	0.98 (0.93–1.03)	0.95 (0.89–1.00)
OPL	0.78 (0.74–0.83)	0.77 (0.73–0.82)	0.78 (0.75–0.84)	0.77 (0.73–0.82)
ONL	1.75 (1.62–1.88)	1.67 (1.52–1.81)	1.69 (1.57–1.81)	1.69 (1.52–1.87)
PRL	1.86 (1.83–1.88)	1.83 (1.79–1.86)	1.85 (1.81–1.88)	1.84 (1.80–1.86)
RPE	0.38 (0.35–0.40)	0.38 (0.35–0.41)	0.38 (0.36–0.41)	0.38 (0.34–0.41)
IRL	6.29 (5.98–6.58)	6.15 (5.86–6.46)	6.28 (5.99–6.52)	6.11 (5.80–6.46)
ORL	2.24 (2.18–2.27)	2.21 (2.17–2.26)	2.24 (2.19–2.27)	2.21 (2.15–2.25)
Overall retina	8.48 (8.25-8.75)	8.37 (8.08–8.68)	8.48 (8.20-8.77)	8.35 (7.99–8.68)

Retinal layer volume values in a population aged 55+ separated for man and women as well as "young" and "old".

The table above provides median volume values (mm³) and, in parenthesis, the IQR (25th to 75th quartile) of the eight distinct retinal layers plus three combinations (IRL, ORL, and overall retina) in all 347 eyes analyzed from 234 patients. Results are separated for man and women as well as participants younger and older than 74.7 years (=median). IQR, interquartile range.

ANNEX VI.

Median subfoveal choroidal thickness values in a population aged 55+, by stage, gender and median age.

CHOROID		Median thickness (μm)	25 th quartile	75 th quartile
	2a	237.5	171.0	289.0
Stage	2b	268.5	228.0	317.0
	3	229.0	152.0	311.0
Gondor	Male	260.0	203.0	298.0
Gender	Female	231.0	167.0	282.0
Age	≤74.7	261.0	205.0	311.0
	>74.7	225.0	148.0	279.0

The table above provides median subfoveal choroidal thicknesses (μ m) with the IQR (25th to 75th quartile) of all 347 eyes analyzed. Results are separated by early AMD stage, gender, and age (=median). IQR, interquartile range.

ANNEX VII.

The expected retinal layer thicknesses (µm) and the comparison across early AMD stages, by circle.

	Expected Retinal Layer Thicknesses					
	(µM)			Effect Estimate	s / Pairwise Test	p-value
	2a	2b	3	2a vs. 2b	2a vs. 3	2b vs. 3
RNFL, central circle	12.3	12.3	12.1	-0.006 / 1.000	0.012 / 1.000	0.018 / 1.000
RNFL, inner circle	21.3	20.9	20.3	0.023 / 1.000	0.051 / 0.187	0.028 / 1.000
RNFL, outer circle	34.8	33.4	32.1	0.043 / 0.810	0.087 / 0.005	0.044 / 0.992
GCL, central circle	14.0	13.2	14.2	0.061 / 0.464	-0.003 / 1.000	-0.064 / 0.557
GCL, inner circle	47.5	45.6	42.9	0.043 / 0.953	0.099 / 0.003	0.056 / 0.768
GCL, outer circle	33.4	32.1	31.5	0.032 / 1.000	0.055 / 0.193	0.023 / 1.000
IPL, central circle	20.0	19.7	20.2	0.015 / 1.000	-0.006 / 1.000	-0.021 / 1.000
IPL, inner circle	40.1	39.3	37.5	0.018 / 1.000	0.067 / 0.002	0.048 / 0.420
IPL, outer circle	28.4	28.1	27.3	0.012 / 1.000	0.038 / 0.168	0.026 / 1.000
INL, central circle	20.7	20.5	22.0	0.006 / 1.000	-0.059 / 0.133	-0.065 / 0.528
INL, inner circle	42.1	40.9	40.0	0.030 / 1.000	0.056 / 0.176	0.027 / 1.000
INL, outer circle	33.1	33.1	32.1	0.006 / 1.000	0.028 / 1.000	0.022 / 1.000
OPL, central circle	25.0	26.6	25.8	-0.061 / 0.268	-0.028 / 0.796	0.032 / 1.000
OPL, inner circle	31.8	32.8	31.8	-0.029 / 1.000	0.006 / 1.000	0.035 / 1.000
OPL, outer circle	26.6	26.8	26.3	-0.007 / 1.000	0.011 / 1.000	0.018 / 1.000
ONL, central circle	95.4	93.1	87.3	0.023 / 1.000	0.088 / 0.002	0.065 / 0.353
ONL, inner circle	70.7	70.9	66.2	-0.003 / 1.000	0.067 / 0.026	0.070 / 0.278
ONL, outer circle	55.3	55.7	54.7	-0.008 / 1.000	0.011 / 1.000	0.020 / 1.000
PRL, central circle	70.0	70.1	68.4	-0.002 / 1.000	0.023 / 0.006	0.025 / 0.140
PRL, inner circle	65.6	65.6	65.2	-0.0003 / 1.000	0.005 / 1.000	0.005 / 1.000
PRL, outer circle	64.8	62.7	64.7	0.034 / 0.004	0.002 / 1.000	-0.032 / 0.030
RPE, central circle	16.0	15.6	18.4	0.013 / 1.000	-0.140 / <0.0001	-0.153 / 0.002
RPE, inner circle	14.6	14.7	15.2	-0.003 / 1.000	-0.034 / 0.559	-0.031 / 1.000
RPE, outer circle	12.8	13.9	12.7	-0.076 / 0.138	0.017 / 1.000	0.093 / 0.102

The table above provides Expected Retinal Layer Thicknesses (μ m), effect estimates (on log scale), and p-values of pairwise tests, obtained from layer-specific linear mixed models. The analysis includes 347 eyes with early AMD (stages 2a, 2b, and 3), obtained from the original cohort of the AMD Incidence study. P-values were judge at Bonferroni-corrected significance level, p<0.05/24=0.002. Significant results are highlighted with bold text.

ANNEX VIII.

Qualitative retinal features in the studied eyes, obtained in the SD-OCT grading from de AMD Incidence Study.

Feature	Present N (%)	Absent N (%)	Questionable N (%)	Non-gradable N (%)
Reticular pseudodrusen	86 (24.93)	253 (73.33)	6 (1.74)	-
Drusenoid pigment epithelial detachment	4 (1.16)	338 (97.97)	3 (0.87)	-
Intraretinal Hyperreflective Foci	39 (11.30)	300 (86.96)	5 (1.45)	1 (0.29)
Vitreomacular adhesion	36 (10.43)	308 (89.28)	1 (0.29)	-
Epiretinal membrane	65 (18.84)	274 (79.42)	5 (1.45)	1 (0.29)

ANNEX IX.

Comparison between pseudodrusen and non-pseudodrusen eyes regarding the retinal/choroidal layers thicknesses.

Variables	Pseudodrusen	Non-pseudodrusen	n volue
Variables	(n=48)	(n=181)	p-value
Inner IPL	38.63 (37.13–41.00)	40.50 (38.00–42.50)	0.035
Outer INL	31.75 (30.25–32.75)	32.75 (31.25–34.75)	0.013
Outer OPL	25.25 (24.5–27.0)	26.5 (25.5–28.0)	<0.001
Central ONL	89.5 (84.0–98.0)	96.0 (88.0–102.0)	0.015
Inner ONL	67.25 (61.0–72.38)	71.75 (66.0–78.25)	0.003
Outer ONL	52.13 (48.25–57.0)	55.63 (51.75–61.00)	0.005
Central PRL	67 (65.5–69.5)	70 (68.0–73.0)	< 0.001
Inner PRL	64.75 (63.00–65.75)	65.5 (64.5–67.0)	<0.001
Outer PRL	64.13 (62.5–65.25)	65.00 (63.75–65.75)	0.005
Central RPE/BrM	15.0 (13.5–16.0)	16.0 (14.0–17.0)	0.001
Inner RPE/BrM	13.75 (12.5–15.25)	14.75 (13.75–15.75)	<0.001
Choroidal Layer	186.1 ± 84.7	255.1 ± 76.0	<0.001

The table above provides median thickness values (μ m) and, in parenthesis, the IQR (25th to 75th quartile) of the retinal layers, by circle (central, inner and outer) that showed significant differences between pseudodrusen and non-pseudodrusen eyes. Furthermore, the mean choroidal thickness (μ m) with the standard deviation is also provided. To statistical significance, p-value was established at 0.05.